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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION

RONALD GEATHERS,
Plaintiff,
v. 1:14-cv-850-WSD

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. and
BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING,
LLC,

Defendants.

OPINION AND ORDER

This matter 1s before the Court on Defendants Bank of America, N.A.’s
(“BANA”) and Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC’s (“Bayview”) (together,
“Defendants”) Partial Objections [33], and Plaintiff Ronald Geathers’ (“Plaintiff™)
Partial Objections [34], to Magistrate Judge Alan J. Baverman’s Final Report and
Recommendation (“R&R™) [31]. The Magistrate Judge recommends that
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss [21] Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint [16] be
granted, that the Court decline to grant summary judgment to Defendants, and that
Plaintiff’s Motion for Discovery and Motion to Hold Defendants’ Motion for

Summary Judgment in Abeyance [28] be denied as moot.
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. BACKGROUND'*
On July 23, 2010, Plaintiff obtained a loan in the amount of $186,397.00,

from Fidelity Bank d/b/a Fidelity Bank Mtgage (“Fidelity”) and executed a
promissory note (“Note”) in favor of Fitly. (Am. Compl. 11 8-9 & Ex. A). The
Note provides, in relevant part:

6. BORROWER’S FAILURE TO PAY

(B) Default

If Borrower defaults by failingo pay in full any monthly
payments, then Lender may, excagptimited by regulations of the
Secretary [of Housing and Urban\@dgopment (“HUD”)] in the case
of payment defaults, require immediate payment in full of the
principal balance remaining due ardazcrued interest. . . . In many
circumstances regulations issusdthe Secretary will limit Lender’s
rights to require immediate payment in full in the case of payment
default. This Note does not &otize acceleration when not permitted
by HUD regulations.

(Note at 2).

Repayment of the loan wasso secured by a deeds€curity Deed”) to real
property located at 610 Vista Terrace, &tdhountain, Georgia (the “Property”).
(Am. Compl. T 9 & Ex. B).Plaintiff executed the Senty Deed in favor of

Mortgage Electronic Registration Systenms,. (“MERS”), asnominee for Fidelity

! The facts are taken from the R&R ahd record. The parties did not object

to any facts set out in the R&R, andding no plain error in the Magistrate
Judge’s findings, the Court adopts them. Geevey v. Vaughn993 F.2d 776,
779 n.9 (11th Cir. 1993).




and Fidelity’s successors and assigns.).(Idnder the terms of the Security Deed,
Plaintiff “grant[ed] and convey[ed] to MES (solely as nominee for [Fidelity] and
[Fidelity’s] successors and assigns), and the successors and assigns of MERS, with
power of sale, the [Property] (Security Deed at 2)The Security Deed also
provides, in pertinent part:
9. Grounds for Acceleration of Debt.

(a) Default. Lender may, except as limited by regulations issued

by the Secretary [of HUD] in the sa of payment defaults, require

immediate payment in full of all sums secured by this Security

[Deed] if:

(i) Borrower defaults by failig to pay in full any monthly

payment required by this Secur[yeed] prior to or on the due
date of the next monthly payment . . ..

(d) Regulations of HUD Secretary.In many circumstances
regulations issued by the Secrgtaill limit Lender’s rights, in the
case of payment defaults, to reguimmediate payment in full and
foreclose if not paid. Thiségurity [Deed] does not authorize
acceleration or foreclosure if not permitted by regulations of the
Secretary.
(Id. at 4-5; Am. Compl. 1 17).
At some point, BANA became Plairitd# loan servicer. In November 2012,
Plaintiff “experienced difficulty meeting his payments on the loan.” {142). He
“requested mortgage refiassistance from BANA but was . . . denied.” Xld.

On December 17, 2012, BANA, on behalfthe holder of the Note, sent

Plaintiff a “Notice of Intent to Accelate and Foreclose,” which states that



Plaintiff had defaulted on his loan obligations, that the total amount required to
cure the default was $2,976.16, and thahef default was natured on or before
January 26, 2013, the entire balancéisfloan would baccelerated and
foreclosure proceedings would be initiated. Id.3 & Ex. E at 2-3).

On March 26, 2013, MERS assigned thecurity Deetb BANA. (Id. § 10
& Ex. C).

On May 10, 2013, BANA sent Plaiffta letter which identifies BANA as
Plaintiff's loan servicer and states tlmatnership of Plaintiff's loan had been
transferred to BANA on May 1, 2013. (Ifi.11 & Ex. D).

On September 16, 2013, BANA sent Rtdf a “Notice of the Right to Cure
the Default and Intent to Accelerate,” whisfates that Plaintiff's loan is past due
for all required monthly payments begingiwith the November 1, 2012, payment,
that the amount required to cure the défavas $15,358.54, and that if the default
was not cured on or before October 2613, “the mortgage payments will be
accelerated with the full amnt of the loan becoming due and payable in full, and
foreclosure proceedings will neitiated at that time.” _(Id] 13 & Ex. E at 4-5).

On October 25, 2013, BANA sent Plaintiff a letter stating that his “mortgage
loan payment is past duadi[the P]roperty may befesred to foreclosure unless

immediate action is taken.” _(1§.13 & Ex. E at 6-8). The letter states further that



BANA is Plaintiff’'s loan servicer and éholder of the Note, that foreclosure
proceedings will be initiated by BANA, thtte total amount needed to reinstate or
to bring Plaintiff's account current is $¥30.30, that the date through which the
account is paid is October 25, 2012, and the amount of outstanding principal on the
loan is $179,988.34._(Id. The letter also states that, upon written request,
Plaintiff is entitled to receive a copy ofshpayment history, a copy of the Note, the
name of the investor that holds hisaihg and copies of the assignment of his
mortgage required to demonstrate A right to foreclose. (I9.

On January 13, 2014, Plaintiff se8ANA a letter requsting, among other
things, “the identity of the secured creditm his loan, verification of the alleged
debt, and a detailed accoun{Am. Compl. 1 23; Cmpl. at Ex. L [1.12]).

On January 23, 2014, BANA respoude Plaintiff's letter by identifying
BANA as Plaintiff’'s loan sevicer and the “investor, awner of [his] loan.”

(Compl. at Ex. M2 [1.13 at 2-3]). B¥A also provided contact information for
BANA, in its capacity as loaservicer and as the invesion Plaintiff's loan. (I9.

Plaintiff asserts that “BANA respondea January 31, 2013, by advising the
Plaintiff, among other things, that thevestor on Plaintiff's loan was BANA
when, in truth, the investor on Plaintgfloan was Government National Mortgage

Association (‘Ginnie Mae’), and not BANA.{Am. Compl. T 24). Plaintiff claims



that, “to date, BANA has ngrovided Plaintiffs [sic] with the true identity of the
owner of Plaintiffs’ [sic] loan.” (Id.

On March 24, 2014, BANA assigned tBecurity Deed to HUD. (Defs’
Stmt. of Undisputed Material Fact (“SAF”) | 6; PI's Resp. to SUMF { 6).

On April 1, 2014, HUD assigned the&rity Deed to Bayview. (SUMF
1 7; PI's Resp. to SUMF | 7).

On April 10, 2014, Bayview sent Plaintiff a letting stating that Bayview
became Plaintiff's loan servicer on Alpt, 2014. (Am. Compl. § 25 & Ex. F).

On April 24, 2014, Bayview sent Plairftd “Notice of Default and Intent to
Accelerate,” stating that Plaintiff hadfdealted on his loan obligations, that the
amount required to cure the default is F58.30, and that, if the default is not
cured by May 24, 2014, Baiew will initiate forecbsure proceedings. (1§.26
& Ex. G).

On March 25, 2014, Plaintiff, proceedipp se, filed his Complaint [1]
against BANA. He later obtained counael the Court granted Plaintiff leave to
amend his Complaint.

On October 9, 2014, Plaintiff, regmented by counsel, filed his Amended
Complaint, which also adds Bayviewaslefendant. Plaintiff asserts claims

against Defendants for declaratory and injunctive relief (Counts | and 1), breach of



contract (Count Three), and negligempee se (Count Four). The crux of these
claims is that Defendants failed to comply with certain HUD regulations,
incorporated by reference into Plaint#ffNote and Security Deed and which are
prerequisites to foreclosure. Specifically, Plaintiff asserts that Defendants failed to
comply with 24 C.F.R. 88 203.604(b),2606(a), because “neither BANA nor
Bayview had a face-to-face interview withalitiff or made any effort whatsoever
to arrange such a meeting prior to comiirg foreclosure proceedings against the
Plaintiff . . ..” (Am. Compl.  273.

Plaintiff also asserts a claim agaibsefendants for violation of the Fair
Debt Collection Practices A¢‘FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. § 1692 eteq.(Count Five),
and a claim against BANA for violatiosf the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”),
15 U.S.C. 8§ 1601 eeq.(Count Six). Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated the
FDCPA by “malking] misleding representations in connection with the debt
secured by the Security Deed,” becausy tlwrongfully threatened legal action
and failed to infornPlaintiff that Plaintiff had aight to a face-to-face meeting

and/or failed to arrange such a megti and because “BANAisrepresented to

2 Section 203.604(b) provides that “[t]heortgagee must have a face-to-face

interview with the mortgagor, or makereasonable effort to arrange such a
meeting, before three full monthly indtaknts due on the mortgage are unpaid.”
24 C.F.R. § 203.604(b). eBtion 203.606(a) providekat “[b]efore initiating
foreclosure, the mortgageeust ensure that all servicing requirements of this
subpart have been met24 C.F.R. § 203.606(a).



Plaintiff that BANA was the investor on Piff’'s loan, when the true investor of
Plaintiff's loan was Ginnie Mae.”_(I1d]f] 73-74). In support of his TILA claim,
Plaintiff asserts that “BANA hasiftad, through a pattern of fraudulent
concealment, to disclosenft name, address, and telephoamber of the owner of
the obligation], despite Plainti§’January 13, 2014, request.” (1d. 78-79).

On October 23, 2014, Defendants mibwe dismiss Plaintiff's Amended
Complaint on the grounds that certain letters showed that BANA had substantially
complied with the face-to-face meetingjugrement or should be excused from
such compliance, and that Plaintiff othesevhad failed to plead a plausible claim
for relief. In his Response, Plaintiff asserthat the Court could not consider the
letters Defendants submitted with theiotion without convaing Defendants’
motion to a motion for summary judgment.

On April 7, 2015, Magistrate Judge Baverman notified the parties of the
Court’s intent to treat Defendants’ KMon to Dismiss as a Motion for Summary
Judgment, “so far as the motion seelsrissal of Plaintiff’'s claims on the
grounds that Defendants complied with@4. R. § 203.604mal offered Plaintiff
a trial payment plan that he then refused,” and provided the parties the opportunity

to present evidence on thossuss. (Apr. 7th Order [26]).



On April 28, 2015, Defendants filed their Statement of Undisputed Material
Facts. On May 19, 2015, Plaintiff pgshded and filed his Motion for Discovery.

On July 6, 2015, Magistrate Judge Baverman issued his R&R,
recommending that Defendants’ Motion@eémiss be granted and Plaintiff's
Motion for Discovery be denied. The Magistrate Judge found that genuine issues
of material fact exist a® whether Defendants compdievith 24 C.F.R. § 203.604,
and whether Plaintiff would have cooperated in the face-to-face interview had he
been given the opportunity. Although leeommended thatéhCourt decline to
grant summary judgment to Defendaotsthese grounds, Magistrate Judge
Baverman found that Plaintiff failed state a claim for relief and recommended
that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss be granted.

The parties timely filed their objections to the R&R.

Il. DISCUSSION
A. Legal Standards

1. Review of a Magistrate Judge’s R&R

After conducting a careful and comfdeeview of the findings and
recommendations, a district judge mageut, reject, or modify a magistrate
judge’s report and recommendatia28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1); Williams

v. Wainwright 681 F.2d 732 (11th Cir. 1982), cert. deni®89 U.S. 1112 (1983).




A district judge “shall make de novo determination of those portions of the report
or specified proposed findings or recomrdations to which objection is made.”
28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1). This requiresithhe district judge “give fresh
consideration to those issues to whsglecific objection has been made by a

party.” Jeffrey S. v. State Bd. of Educ. of (206 F.2d 507, 512 (11th Cir. 1990)

(internal quotation marks omittedyVith respect to those findings and
recommendations to which objections hawt been asserted, the Court must

conduct a plain error review ofdhlrecord._United States v. S|adi4 F.2d 1093,

1095 (11th Cir. 1983), cert. denjetb4 U.S. 1050 (1984).

Defendants object to the portionstbé R&R addressing Defendants’
converted motion for summary judgmemd recommending that it be denied.
(Defs’ Objs. [33]). Because the Cofirtds that Plaintiff's Amended Complaint
fails to state a claim for relief and thugegjuired to be disissed, the Court does
not consider whether genuine issues ofanal fact exist regarding Defendants’
compliance with 24 C.F.R.&03.604, or whether Plaiff would have cooperated
in the face-to-face interview had hedm given the opportunity. The Court
sustains Defendants’ objection to the R&Rtla basis that dismissal for failure to

state a claim renders summgudgment issues modt.

Having found that the summary judgmesues are moot, the Court does

10



In his Objections, Plaintiff objects only to the Magistrate Judge’s
recommendation that Plaintiffs FDCPA@TILA claims be dismissed, and the
Court reviews these portions of the R&Rnovo. The Court conducts a plain
error review of the remaiing portions of the R&R.

2. Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim

Dismissal of a complaint, pursuantRaile 12(b)(6), i@ppropriate “when,
on the basis of a dispositive issue of laa,construction of the factual allegations

will support the cause of action.” Mardh@nty. Bd. of Educ. v. Marshall Cnty.

Gas Dist, 992 F.2d 1171, 1174 (11th Cir. 1993 considering a motion to
dismiss, the Court accepts the plainsiféillegations as true and considers the
allegations in the complaint in the ligmtost favorable to the plaintiff. See

Hishon v. King & Spalding467 U.S. 69, 73 (1984); Wa v. Fla. Int'l Univ,

495 F.3d 1289, 1295 (11th Cir. 2007); see &smnt v. Avado Brands, Inc.

187 F.3d 1271, 1273 n.1 (11th Cir. 199%he Court is not required to accept a

plaintiff's legal conclusions as true. S8maltrainal v. Coca-Cola C&b78 F.3d

1252, 1260 (11th Cir. 2009) (citing Ashcroft v. Ighab6 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)),

abrogated on other grounds llpwhamad v. Palestinian Auth— U.S. —,

132 S. Ct. 1702 (2012). The Court also widk “accept as true a legal conclusion

not consider Defendants’ objections te tilagistrate Judge’s findings regarding
the admissibility of certain documentsbsnitted in support of summary judgment.

11



couched as a factlallegation.” Sedell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544,

555 (2007). The complaint, ultimately,rexquired to contain “enough facts to state
a claim to relief that is plaible on its face.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 570.

To state a plausible claifor relief, the plaintiff must plead factual content
that “allows the Court to draw the reasblgainference that the defendant is liable
for the misconduct alleged.” Ighd&56 U.S. at 678. “Plesibility” requires more
than a “sheer possibility that a defendaas acted unlawfully,” and a complaint
that alleges facts that are “merely congisteith” liability “stops short of the line
between possibility and plausibility t#ntitlement torelief.” Id. (citing

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557); see aldothur v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, NA

569 F. App’x 669, 680 (11th €i2014) (noting that Conléy“no set of facts”
standard has been overruled_by Twomhblyd a complaint must contain “sufficient
factual matter, accepted as true, to séatéaim for relief that is plausible on its
face.”). “A complaint is insufficient if it ‘tenders nakedsgrtions devoid of

further factual enhancement.” dpic Ocean Airways, Inc. v. Floyd

598 F. App’x 608, 609 (11t@ir. 2014) (quoting Igbalb56 U.S. at 678).
“To survive a motion to dismiss, plaifis must do more than merely state
legal conclusions; they are required lege some specific factual bases for those

conclusions or face dismissal of thelaims.” Jackson v. BellSouth Telecomms.

12



372 F.3d 1250, 1263 (11th Cir. 2004); see &4ote v. Bank of America, NA

597 F. App’x 1015, 1018 (11th Cir. 2014) (“[Clonclusory allegations, unwarranted
deductions of facts or legal conclusionasquerading as facts will not prevent

dismissal.”) (quoting Oxforésset Mgmt., Ltd. v. Jahari297 F.3d 1182, 1188

(11th Cir. 2002)}.

B. Analysis
1. Violation of the FDCPA (Count Five)

The FDCPA prohibits debt collectors ing among other things, using “false,
deceptive, or misleading representatiom&ans in connection with the collection
of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. 8692e. To state a claimrfeelief under Section 1692e, a
plaintiff must allege that: (1) the defendamt “debt collector;” (2) the challenged
conduct is related to debtltxtion activity; and (3) th defendant engaged in an

act or omission prohibited by the EPA. Gardner v. TBO Capital LL,C

986 F. Supp. 2d 1324, 1332 (N.D. Ga. 20B)ng Reese v. Ellis, Painter,

Ratteree & Adams, LLF678 F.3d 1211, 1216 (11th Cir. 2012); Frazier

v. Absolute Collection Serv., Inc/67 F. Supp. 2d 1354363 (N.D. Ga. 2011)).

4 Federal Rule of Civil Paedure 8(a)(2) requires the plaintiff to state “a short

and plain statement of the claim showingttthe pleader is entitled to relief.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). In Twombhlthe Supreme Court recognized the liberal
minimal standards imposéxy Federal Rule 8(a)(2) batso acknowledged that
“[flactual allegations mudbe enough to raise a right to relgdfove the speculative
level . . ..” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555.

13



Plaintiff fails to specify any provisn of the FDCPA Defendants allegedly
violated. Plaintiff conclusorily gserts that Defendants “made misleading
representations in connection with tihebt secured by the Security Deed,”
“[s]pecifically, [they] wrongfully threagned legal action and failed to inform
Plaintiff that Plaintiff had a right to face-to-face meeting and/or failed to arrange
such a meeting.” (Am. Comd] 73). Plaintiff does not describe when the alleged
misleading representations were made stitestance of those representations, or
the “legal action” threatenedTo the extent Plaintiff argues that Defendants made
misleading representations because thdyndt disclose that they were required
under 24 C.F.R. 88 203.604(R))3.606(a), to conduct ade-to-face meeting with
Plaintiff before foreclosure, this “misrepeggation” invention is illogical. It is not
a misrepresentation to not discl@esquirement imposed upon a lender,
especially where, as hetage absence of notice of the lender’s obligation did not
impact or prejudice Plaintiff in any way.

Even if, as Plaintiff dims, BANA misrepresentdtiat it was the “investor”
on Plaintiff's loan when the “true investor” was Ginnie Mae, Plaintiff fails to show

how this alleged misrepras&@tion was made “in conngan” with collection of

> To the extent Plaintiff bases lH®CPA claim on letters BANA sent him in
2012, Plaintiff filed his Complaint on Man@25, 2014, and FDCPA claims must be
brought within one year of the daia which the violation occurred. S&8 U.S.C.

8 1692k(d).

14



Plaintiff's debt. _Sed5 U.S.C. § 1692e (prohibitireg“misleading representation

or meansn connection with the collection of any debt”) (emphasis added). To the
extent Plaintiff intended to assert aioh under Section 1692g, Plaintiff fails to
show that he disputed the debt and reteekthe name and address of his creditor
within thirty (30) days of receiving &dm BANA the written notice of his rights.
Section 1692g provides: “If the consunmetifies the debt collector in writing

within the thirty-day period [after receng a written notice of his rights under the
FDCPA]. . . that the debt . . . is disputed that the consumer requests the name
and address of the original creditor, the debt collector shall cease collection of the
debt . .. until ... acopy of such verdtion . . . or name and address of the

original creditor, is mailed to the camser by the debt collector.” 15 U.S.C.

8 1692g(b). The letters Plaintiff submitgth his Amended Complaint show that
BANA communicated with Plaintiff abdunis overdue debt on December 17,

2012; that no later than September 16, 2@K\A sent Plaintiff notice of his

right to dispute the debt; and that Plaintiff sent his letter requesting the identity of
the secured creditor of his loan on January 13, 2014, nearly four (4) months after
BANA's September 16, 2013, notice. Plaihtiannot state a claim for violation of
the FDCPA based on Section 1692g.

Plaintiff fails to show that Defendanhave engaged in an act or omission

15



prohibited by the FDCPA, and this claimrexjuired to be dismissed. See, e.Q.

15 U.S.C. 88 1692e, 1692g; Gardr@86 F. Supp. 2d at 1332. Plaintiff's
objection to the R&R on this ground is overruled.

2. Violation of TILA (Count Six)

Plaintiff alleges that BANA violatedILA, specifically 15 U.S.C. § 1641(f),
by failing to properly respond to Plaintiffrequest for the identity of the owner of
his loan. (Am. Compl. 11 78-7915 U.S.C. § 1641(f)(2) provides that, “[u]pon
written request by the obligor, the servicer shall provide the obligor, to the best
knowledge of the servicer, with the naraddress, and tgdaone number of the
owner of the obligation or the master servicer of the obligation.” 15 U.S.C.

§ 1641(f)(2) (emphasis added).

Plaintiff's January 13, 2014, lettes, not a valid request under Section
1641(f)(2) because, in it, Plaifftrequests “the identity of th&ecured creditor on
his loan,” not the name of tlosvner of the obligation. (CompareAm. Compl.

19 23, 79 withl5 U.S.C. § 1641(f)(2)) (emphasis adfleEven if the term “owner
of the obligation” could be construedthe equivalent of “secured creditor,” the
facts support that, in January 2014, BANA was Plaintiff's secured creditor. On
March 26, 2013, MERS assighéhe Security Deed to BANA, and BANA did not

assign the Security Deed to HUDtihiMarch 24, 2014—two (2) months after

16



BANA's response to Plaintiff’'s January 13)14, letter. Plaintiff fails to state a
claim for violation of TILA, and this clains required to be dismissed. Plaintiff's
objection to the R&R on this ground is overrufed.

3. Breach of Contract (Count Three)

To assert a claim for breach of caur under Georgia law, a plaintiff must
show (1) a valid contract; (2) material hoh of its terms; and (3) damages arising

from that breach. Sdgudget Rent-A-Care ditlanta, Inc. v. Webp469 S.E.2d

712, 713 (Ga. Ct. App. 1996); see aBates v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, NA

768 F.3d 1126, 1130 (11th Cir. 2014). relePlaintiff alleges that Defendants

® To the extent Plaintiff argues, foretfirst time in his Objections, that his

TILA claim should not be dismissed besau(|t]he allegations of Plaintiff's
complaint would still fall . . . withirthe provisions of § 1641(g), requiring
Defendants to notify Plaintiff of a transfierownership of the loan,” this argument
is not properly before the Court atiee Court will not consider it. CHuls

v. Liabong 437 F. App’x 830, 832 n.4 (11th Cir. 2011) (per curium) (argument not
properly raised where plaintiff assertiedor the first time in response to
defendant’s motion to dismiss, instezEdseeking leave to file an amended
complaint). Although courts havemstrued additional allegations irpeo se
plaintiff's response as a motion to amend domplaint, Plaintiff is represented by
counsel and has once amethdies complaint with the assistance of counsel.
CompareNewsome v. Chatham Cnty. Det. Cn56 F. App'x 342, 344 (11th Cir.
2007) (“Because courts must constpue se pleadings liberally, the district court
should have considered [plaintiff's] additional allegations in the objection as a
motion to amend his complaint and granted it.”) viRile v. Chase Home Fin.
LLC, No. 3:11-cv-146, 2012 WL 18333%t,*4 (M.D. Ga. May 18, 2012)
(“Plaintiff is not proceedingro se, and therefore this Court is under no obligation
to construe these additional allegati@ssa motion to amend the Complaint.”).
Even if it were properly befe the Court, Plaintiff fails to identify any transfer in
ownership of the loan of which Plaintiff was not notified.

17



breached the Note and SetyDeed by failing to onduct a face-to-face meeting
with Plaintiff before initiating foreclosungroceedings, and, as a result, “Plaintiff
has suffered mental anguish, emotional @aid suffering and damage to his credit
and reputation . . . ."([Am. Compl. § 63).

Plaintiff did not object to the Magistrate Judge’s conclusion that Plaintiff
failed to allege facts to support tha¢fendants’ alleged breach in failing to
conduct a face-to-face meeting with Rt#f resulted in his damages. The
Magistrate Judge found that damagesiiental anguish aneimotional pain and
suffering cannot be recovered in a breathontract claim and, because it is
undisputed that Plaintiff had already dédfad on his loan obligations when the
alleged breach occurred, that Defendarported Plaintiff's default to credit
bureaus was the result of Plaintiff's failuueemake his loan payments, not the

result of Defendants’ alleged breach. Sesnmings v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.

542 F. Supp. 838, 841 (S.D. Ga. 1982) (ur@eorgia law, damages for mental
suffering arising out of breach of contraaibsent breach of a duty independent of
contract, are not recoverable); Baté88 F.3d at 1132-33 (Mortgagor “must show
that the premature or improper exerciss@ihe power under the deed . . . resulted

in damages that would not have occuretifor the breach.”); Rourk v. Bank of

Am., N.A, 587 F. App’x 597 (11th Cir. 2014) (mortgagor’s failure to make loan

18



payments “is fatal to her claim for breaahcontract and wrongful foreclosure, as

her ‘alleged injury was solely attributalite her own acts or omissions.”) (quoting

Heritage Creek Dev. Corp. v. Colonial Ba®1l S.E.2d 842, 845 (Ga. Ct. App.

2004))! The Magistrate Judgecommended that Plaiffts breach of contract
claim be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(p)é&d the Court finds no plain error in
this recommendation. S@&ates 768 F.3d at 1130.

4. Negligence (Count Four)

Plaintiff did not object to the Magistrate Judge’s conclusion that Plaintiff
failed to state a claim for negligencechase, like his breach of contract claim,
Plaintiff did not allege any facts to suppthat Defendants’ alleged negligence in
failing to conduct a face-tate meeting with Plaintiff por to foreclosure resulted
in his damages. The Magiate Judge recommended that Plaintiff's negligence
claim be dismissed pursuant to Rule 1@&h)and the Court finds no plain error in

this recommendation. S&sadley Ctr., Inc. v. Wessne296 S.E.2d 693, 695

(Ga. 1982) (to support a negligence clainGieorgia, plaintiff must allege, among

others, a causal connection between defendant’s breach of a standard of conduct

! The Magistrate Judge found furtheathunder the terms of the Security

Deed, Plaintiff has a right to reinstats foan even after foreclosure has been
initiated, and “because all [Plaintiff] mudb, even now, is simply pay all of the
outstanding monthly payments and asseddees admittedly owed, [Defendants’]
exercise of the power to accelerate thifhl could not have caused [Plaintiff]
harm . ...” (R&Rat 34-35) (quoting Bate368 F.3d at 1133).

19



and the resulting injury, and i@ge flowing to plaintiff as a result of the breach).
The Magistrate Judge also found ttiegre is no private right of action for
violation of HUD regulations, sdgates 768 F.3d at 1130, and Defendants’
alleged negligent acts all arise from thdies created by the Note and Security
Deed. Because Plaintiff fails to shoat Defendants breached a duty owed to
Plaintiff independent of the Note afecurity Deed, th®lagistrate Judge
recommended that Plaintiff's negligendaim be dismissed for this additional
reason, and the Court finds no plamor in this recommendation. S@&llace

v. State Farm Fire & Cas. C&39 S.E.2d 509, 512 (Ga..@pp. 2000) (“Absent a

legal duty beyond the contract, no actiotari may lie upon an alleged breach of

contractual duty.”); Fielbon Dev. Cua. Colony Bank of Houston Cnty660

S.E.2d 801, 808 (Ga. Ct. App008) (“A defendant’s meneegligent performance

of a contractual duty does not create acarise of action; rather, a defendant’s
breach of a contract may give rise to d tause of action only if the defendant has
also breached an independent dusated by statute or common law.”).

5. Declaratory Judgment and Injunctive Relief (Counts One
and Two)

Plaintiff seeks a declaration tHaefendants did not have a face-to-face
interview with Plaintiff before foreclosure, that as a result, Defendants did not

comply with HUD requirements or the Seityi Deed, and foreclosure is therefore

20



premature and should be enjoined untifédelants comply with HUD regulations.
(Am. Compl. T 44; see alsam. Compl. 11 45, 47-58). Plaintiff did not object to
the Magistrate Judge’s conclusion thacause Plaintiff's claims for declaratory
judgment and injunctive religfre based on Defendantdieged failure to arrange
a face-to-face meeting beeocommencing a foreclosisale, and because the
foreclosure sale has nottyeen scheduled, these ohai are premature and not
ripe for consideration. The Magistratedge recommended that these claims be
dismissed, and the Court finds no plamor in this recommendation. SEmory

V. Peeler 756 F.2d 1547, 1551-52 (11th Cir. 1985) (to obtain a declaratory
judgment, plaintiff must allege facts $bow a “substantial continuing controversy
between parties haviraglverse legal interests;” therdroversy must be “real and
immediate” and must “create a definitethex than speculativiareat of future

injury.”); Am.’s Health Ins. Plans v. Hudgen&42 F.3d 1319, 1329 (11th Cir.

2014) (to obtain a preliminary injunction, plaintiff must shonter alia, that
irreparable injury will be suffered unless the injunction is issued); Siegel
v. LePore 234 F.3d 1163, 1176 (11th Cir. 200®) ¢ualify as irreparable, harm or

injury must be “actual and imminentlime Warner Entm't Co. L.P. v. F.C.C.

810 F. Supp. 1302, 1304 (D.D.C. 1992) (“[€]hpeness inquiry conflates with the

preliminary injunction inquiry [and the dlaratory judgment inquiry], for if the
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challenge is premature;fortiori there is no [immediate pirreparable injury.”} °

[ll.  CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants’ Objections [33] are
SUSTAINED IN PART. Defendants’ objection tihe Magistrate Judge’s
consideration of the summary judgment esis sustained. Defendants’ objection
to the Magistrate Judge’s findings regarding the admissibility of some documents
submitted in support of summanydgment is moot and thus overruled.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff's Objections [34] are
OVERRULED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED thatMagistrate Judge Alan J. Baverman’s

Final Report and Recommendation [31ABOPTED IN PART . It is adopted

8 The Court also notes that, becaitse undisputed that Plaintiff already

defaulted on his loan obligations andf®wlants already allegedly breached the
contract, no uncertainty exists about &myre action by Plaintiff, and Plaintiff's
claim for declaratory relief is required be dismissed for this additional reason.
SeeMilani v. One West Bank FSBI91 F. App’x 977, 979 (11th Cir. 2012)
(declaratory judgment is unavailable besa ‘all material rights have accrued
based on past events and what Plaintiff seglan advisory opinion on the validity
of the future act of another party.”).

’ A claim for preliminary injunctiveelief requires a showing of “a
substantial likelihood of success on theritseof the underlying case,” Grizzle

v. Kemp 634 F.3d 1314, 1320 (11th Cir. 2Q,1While a permanent injunction
requires actual success on the metitsited States v. Endotec, In663 F.3d
1187, 1194 (11th Cir. 2009). Plaintiff fails $tate a viable clen for relief and his
claim for injunctive relief is required to lsksmissed for this additional reason.
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with respect to the findings that Plaffifails to state a claim for relief and
Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss [21] GRANTED. Having granted Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss, the portions oféfR&R addressing the summary judgment
issues ar®EEMED MOOT .

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff's Motion for Discovery and

Motion to Hold Defendants’ Motion for $umary Judgment in Abeyance [28] is

DENIED AS MOOT.

SO ORDERED this 27th day of August, 2015.

WILLIAM S. DUFFEY, JR.
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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